
*Morgan County is committed to making its public meetings accessible to persons with disabilities.  If you need 
special accommodations, please call (970)542-3500, extension 1410, at least 2 business days in advance of a 
meeting to make arrangements. 
 

PREPARED BY:  Mindi Cloyd, Administrative Services Manager for BCC 
AGENDA POSTED by June 13 @ 4:00 P.M. 

 
AGENDA 

MORGAN COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
Assembly Room, Administration Building 
231 Ensign Street, Fort Morgan, CO 80701 

Tuesday June 17, 2025 
 
 
To participate in the Citizen’s Comment Period you must connect via Zoom Conferencing Access 
Information: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89044888145 If you cannot connect via Zoom, you may 
submit written public comment to morgancountybcc@co.morgan.co.us by email by 4 p.m. on 
Monday June 16, 2025.  
 
To participate in Public Hearings you may connect via Zoom Conferencing Access Information: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89044888145 listen via phone, please dial: 1-312-626-6799, Meeting ID: 
890 4488 8145 
 
To watch and/or listen to the meeting but not participate, you may do so by connecting via Zoom 
Conferencing Access Information: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89044888145 or to listen via phone, 
please dial: 1-312-626-6799, Meeting ID: 890 4488 8145 
9:00 A.M. 

A.  WELCOME – CALL TO ORDER 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
ROLL CALL: 
 Commissioner Becker 
 Commissioner Malone 
 Commissioner Bernhardt 

B. MORGAN COUNTY EMPLOYEE ANNIVERSARIES 
1. 1st and 2nd quarter 2025. 

 
C. CITIZEN’S COMMENT PERIOD 
Citizens are invited to speak to the Commissioners on agenda or non-agenda items.  There is a 3-minute 
time limit per person, unless otherwise noted by the Chairman.  Please note that no formal action will be 
taken on these items during this time due to the open meeting law provision; however, they may be placed 
on future posted agenda if action is required. 
 
D. CONSENT AGENDA 
All matters under the consent agenda are considered to be routine by the Board of County Commissioners 
and will be enacted with a single vote.  There will be no separate discussion of these items.  If discussion 
is deemed necessary, any Board member may ask that the item be removed from the Consent Agenda and 
considered separately. 

 
1. Ratify the Board of County Commissioners approval of BCC meeting minutes dated May 20, 

2025. 
2. Ratify the Board of County Commissioners approval of BCC meeting minutes dated May 28, 

2025. 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89044888145
mailto:morgancountybcc@co.morgan.co.us
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89044888145
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89044888145
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89044888145


*Morgan County is committed to making its public meetings accessible to persons with disabilities.  If you need 
special accommodations, please call (970)542-3500, extension 1410, at least 2 business days in advance of a 
meeting to make arrangements. 
 

PREPARED BY:  Mindi Cloyd, Administrative Services Manager for BCC 
AGENDA POSTED by June 13 @ 4:00 P.M. 

3. Ratify the Board of County Commissioners approval of BCC meeting minutes dated May 30, 
2025. 

4. Ratify Chairman Jon Becker’s signature on May 2025 Morgan County Warrants, signed June 
17, 2025. 

5. Ratify the Board of County Commissioners approval of Request for Waiver of Rental Fees for Brush 
Chamber of Commerce, signed June 20, 2025. 

6. Ratify the Board of County Commissioners approval of Contract 2025 CNT 046 Martin 
Marietta Materials, Inc., Term of Contract April 29, 2025 through October 31, 2025. 

7. Ratify the Board of County Commissioners approval of Contract 2025 CNT 047 Advance 
Service, Inc., Term of Contract June 1, 2025 through August 4, 2025. 

8. Ratify the Board of County Commissioners approval of Contract 2025 CNT 048 Moetivations, 
Inc., Term of Contract June 1, 2025 through December 31, 2025. 

9. Ratify the Board of County Commissioners approval of Contract 2025 CNT 049 American 
College of Cardiology Foundation, Term of Contract June 3, 2025 until termination. 

10. Ratify the Board of County Commissioners approval on Assignment of Lease, Morgan County 
Partnership for Children and Families. Term of Lease July 1, 2025 through November 30, 
2025. 

11. Ratify Chairman Jon Becker’s signature on Morgan County Public Trustee Report, time period 
April, 2025 through May, 2025. Signed June 17, 2025. 

12. Ratify the Board of County Commissioners approval on assignment of Debt Collections to 
EMS|MC dated May 16, 2025. Client #240636, #243646, #243480, #243745, #242806H, 
#242340, #243850B, #243768C, #243684A, #243805, #250056, #243788, #243815, #242949, 
#242753, #243703, #243263, #250300, #243700, #243536, #243555, #242683B, #243239, 
#243635, #243392, #243673, #250414, #243120, #243756, #243690, #243570, #250010, 
#243582, #243585, #243835, #250006, #242746, #243768B. 

13. Ratify the Board of County Commissioners approval on assignment of Debt Collections to 
EMS|MC dated June 3, 2025. Client #242958B, #241874, #250184, #250269, #242780, 
#250065, #243020, #243729, #243026, #250205, #250221, #240116, #250183, #250467, 
#250985, #240705, #242005B, #250077, #242824, #242751, #250274, #242391, #250191, 
#243375, #250165, #250113, #250110, #243865, #240155, #250212, #243323, #250008, 
#250015A, #243523, #250188, #243862, #250109, #250290A, #243439, #240945, #240930, 
#240965, #241879A, #250235, #243841, #250231, #250067, #250440, #243578, #243099, 
#250101, #243584, #250628, #243157. 

14. Ratify Chairman Jon Becker’s signature on Memorandum of Understanding – Annual 
Reaffirmation, The State of Colorado Department of Human Services, Term of MOU July 1, 
2025 through June 30, 2026. 

15. Ratify Chairman Jon Becker’s signature on letter to Works Allocation Committee. A mutual 
agreement between Kit Carson County Department of Human Services and Morgan County 
Department of Human Services for transfer of funds.  

16. Ratify Chairman Jon Becker’s signature on letter to Works Allocation Committee. A mutual 
agreement between Yuma County Department of Human Services and Morgan County 
Department of Human Services for transfer of funds.  

17. Ratify Chairman Jon Becker’s signature on Secure Transportation Vehicle Permit for Centennial 
Mental Health Center, Inc., Permit numbers 25-0617-01, 25-0617-02, 25-0617-03, 25-0617-04, 25-
0617-05, 25-0617-06, 25-0617-07. 

18. Ratify the Board of County Commissioners approval of Child Support Purchase of Services 
Agreement between the Board of County Commissioners of Washington County acting on behalf of 
the Washington County Department of Human Services and the Board of County Commissioners of 
Morgan County acting on behalf of the Morgan County Department of Human Services, Term of 
Agreement July 1, 2025 through June 30, 2026. 
 



*Morgan County is committed to making its public meetings accessible to persons with disabilities.  If you need 
special accommodations, please call (970)542-3500, extension 1410, at least 2 business days in advance of a 
meeting to make arrangements. 
 

PREPARED BY:  Mindi Cloyd, Administrative Services Manager for BCC 
AGENDA POSTED by June 13 @ 4:00 P.M. 

E. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 No unfinished business. 
 
F. GENERAL BUSINESS AND ADMINISTRATIVE ITEMS 

1. Consideration of Approval – Jackson Lake fireworks application, submitted by Margaret 
Journey. (Margaret Journey, President of Pirate Pyrotechnics) 

2. Consideration of Approval – Changes to the 2025 Morgan County Fee Schedule for Clerk and 
Recorder. (Kevin Strauch, Morgan County Clerk) 

3. Consideration of Approval - 2025 BCC 24 A Resolution adopting the rules of the 2025 Morgan 
County Fair. (Marlin Eisenach, Livestock Extension Agent) 

4. Consideration of approval - Resolution 2025 BCC 25, A Resolution amending the Morgan 
County Zoning Regulations concerning variances and duties of the Board of Adjustment. (Nicole 
Hay, Planning and Zoning Administrator) 

5. Consideration of approval - Resolution 2025 BCC 26, A Resolution amending the Morgan 
County Zoning Regulations concerning Wireless Service Facilities. (Nicole Hay, Planning and 
Zoning Administrator) 

6. Consideration of approval - Resolution 2025 BCC 27, A Resolution amending the Morgan 
County Zoning Regulations to establish planned development zones, planned development 
overlay zones and associated standards. (Nicole Hay, Planning and Zoning Administrator) 

7. Consideration of approval - Resolution 2025 BCC 28, A Resolution granting a two-lot Minor 
Subdivision, known as Bellendir West Minor Subdivision. (Nicole Hay, Planning and Zoning 
Administrator) 

8. County ordinance in relation to Special Conditions for School Districts. 
Morgan County School District Superintendents: 
Marsha Cody – Brush School District RE-2J 
Rob Sanders – Fort Morgan School District RE-5 
Ben Bauman – Weldon Valley School District RE-20J 
Trent Kerr – Wiggins School District RE-50J 
David Olsen – District Counsel 
 

G. COUNTY OFFICIAL AND DEPARTMENT HEAD REPORTS 
1. Swearing in of Megan Andrews. (David Martin, Morgan County Sheriff) 
2. Weekly Road and Bridge Report for May 10, 2025 through May 16, 2025. 
3. Commissioners Calendar for the week of June 13, 2025 through June 24, 2025. 

 
H. PLANNING AND ZONING  
 

Continuation of Public Hearing from May 28, 2025 
1.) Zoning Amendments related to Solar Collector Facilities, Battery Energy Storage Systems, and 

Wind Energy Facilities. 
2.) Subdivision Amendments related to Major and Minor Subdivisions and Miscellaneous 

Amendments to Definitions and References to Standards. 
 
I. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

1. To hold a conference with the County’s attorney to receive legal advice on specific legal 
questions, pursuant to C.R.S. § 24-6-402(4)(b) concerning state access permits. 

 
J. ADJOURNMENT 























































1 
RESOLUTION NO. 2025 BCC 25 
AMENDMENTS TO MORGAN COUNTY  
ZONING REGULATIONS-VARIANCE 

MORGAN COUNTY, COLORADO 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025 BCC 25 

A RESOLUTION AMENDING THE MORGAN COUNTY ZONING REGULATIONS 
CONCERNING VARIANCES AND DUTIES OF THE BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 

WHEREAS, the County desires to amend the Morgan County Zoning Regulations to add 
a definition for bulk requirements and clarify the duties of the Board of Adjustment;  

WHEREAS, on May 12, 2025, the Planning Commission held a duly noticed public 
hearing on the proposed amendments and recommended approval of the amendments; 

WHEREAS, on May 28, 2025, the Board of County Commissioners held a duly noticed 
public hearing on the proposed amendments; 

WHEREAS, all relevant and required provisions for amending the Morgan County Zoning 
Regulations have been complied with; and 

WHEREAS, after considering public testimony received and the recommendation of the 
Planning Commission, the Board of County Commissioners finds these amendments to be in the 
best interest of the citizens of Morgan County. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Morgan County Board of County 
Commissioners as follows: 

Section 1. Section 1-130 of the Morgan County Zoning Regulations is amended by the 
addition of a new definition to read as follows:  

Bulk Requirements: Minimum lot size, maximum lot area per unit, minimum setbacks, 
minimum lot frontage width, maximum building height, fence height max, lot frontage 
limit, maximum coverage by structures, open space requirement, and any setbacks as 
defined in these Regulations. 

Section 2. Section 5-150(B) of the Morgan County Zoning Regulations is amended to 
read as follows:  

To hear and grant or deny variances from the bulk requirements as defined in Sec. 1-130 
of these Regulations, and the floodplain regulations, as provided for in Sections 3-800 and 
3-805 of these Regulations. 

  



2 
RESOLUTION NO. 2025 BCC 25 
AMENDMENTS TO MORGAN COUNTY  
ZONING REGULATIONS-VARIANCE 

APPROVED this __________ day of ____________, 2025. 

 
 
 

      BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
MORGAN COUNTY, COLORADO 

 
__________________________________________ 
Jon J. Becker, Chair 

 
              
      Tim A. Malone, Commissioner 
 
      __________________________________________ 
      Kelvin S. Bernhardt, Commissioner     
ATTEST: 
(SEAL) 
 
_____________________________ 
Kevin Strauch, Clerk to the Board 
 



1 
RESOLUTION NO. 2025 BCC 26  
AMENDMENTS TO MORGAN COUNTY  
ZONING REGULATIONS-WIRELES SERVICE FACILITIES 

MORGAN COUNTY, COLORADO 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025 BCC 26  

A RESOLUTION AMENDING THE MORGAN COUNTY ZONING REGULATIONS 
CONCERNING WIRELESS SERVICE FACILITIES 

WHEREAS, the County desires to amend the Morgan County Zoning Regulations to 
remove the permitted zoning districts from the regulations and add it to the use chart. 

WHEREAS, on May 12, 2025, the Planning Commission held a duly noticed public 
hearing on the proposed amendments and recommended approval of the amendments; 

WHEREAS, on May 28, 2025, the Board of County Commissioners held a duly noticed 
public hearing on the proposed amendments; 

WHEREAS, all relevant and required provisions for amending the Morgan County Zoning 
Regulations have been complied with; and 

WHEREAS, after considering public testimony received and the recommendation of the 
Planning Commission, the Board of County Commissioners finds these amendments to be in the 
best interest of the citizens of Morgan County. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Morgan County Board of County 
Commissioners as follows: 

Section 1. Section 4-715(D) of the Morgan County Zoning Regulations is deleted in 
its entirety and the subsequent subsections are re-lettered accordingly.  

Section 2. The Use Table in Section 3-235 of the Morgan County Zoning Regulations 
is amended by the addition of Wireless Service Facility as a Use by Right within all zoning 
districts.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



2 
RESOLUTION NO. 2025 BCC 26  
AMENDMENTS TO MORGAN COUNTY  
ZONING REGULATIONS-WIRELES SERVICE FACILITIES 

 

APPROVED this __________ day of ____________, 2025. 

 
      BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

MORGAN COUNTY, COLORADO 
 

__________________________________________ 
Jon J. Becker, Chair 

 
              
      Tim A. Malone, Commissioner 
 
      __________________________________________ 
      Kelvin S. Bernhardt, Commissioner     
ATTEST: 
(SEAL) 
 
_____________________________ 
Kevin Strauch, Clerk to the Board 
 



1
RESOLUTION NO. 2025 BCC 27
AMENDMENTS TO MORGAN COUNTY 
ZONING REGULATIONS – PLANNED DEVELOPMENTS

MORGAN COUNTY, COLORADO
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS

RESOLUTION NO. 2025 BCC 27

A RESOLUTION AMENDING THE MORGAN COUNTY ZONING REGULATIONS 
TO ESTABLISH PLANNED DEVELOPMENT ZONES, PLANNED DEVELOPMENT 

OVERLAY ZONES AND ASSOCIATED STANDARDS

WHEREAS, the County desires to amend the Morgan County Zoning Regulations to 
establish planned development zones, planned development overlay zones and associated 
standards and further revised the Zoning Regulations to provide clarity;

WHEREAS, on May 12, 2025, the Planning Commission held a duly noticed public 
hearing on the proposed amendments and recommended approval of the amendments;

WHEREAS, on May 28, 2025, the Board of County Commissioners held a duly noticed 
public hearing on the proposed amendments;

WHEREAS, all relevant and required provisions for amending the Morgan County 
Zoning Regulations have been complied with; and

WHEREAS, after considering public testimony received and the recommendation of the 
Planning Commission, the Board of County Commissioners finds these amendments to be in the 
best interest of the citizens of Morgan County.

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Morgan County Board of County 
Commissioners as follows:

Section 1. Section 1-130 of the Morgan County Zoning Regulations is amended by 
the addition of the following definitions to be inserted in alphabetical order and to read as 
follows: 

Density: The number of units per acre (gross) on an entire site and/or on individual 
development parcels or as floor to area ratios for commercial, office and industrial uses. 
Such term should not be used in relation to animal unit density.

Developer: The subdivider, applicant, person, firm, partnership, joint venture, 
association or corporation participating as owner, promoter, developer, or sales agent in 
the planning, platting, development, promotion, sale or lease of lands which are subject to 
the provisions of the Zoning Regulations.

Drainage Plan: A plan that accounts for the increased run-off from a particular site as a 
result of development that is in excess of the historical flow of water off the site. A 
drainage plan must show how the excess run-off water will be directed and managed on 
the site so as not to cause harm to adjacent properties.



2
RESOLUTION NO. 2025 BCC 27
AMENDMENTS TO MORGAN COUNTY 
ZONING REGULATIONS – PLANNED DEVELOPMENTS

Planned Development: An area of land, controlled by one or more landowners, to be 
developed under unified control or unified plan of development for a number of dwelling 
units, commercial, educational, recreational, or industrial uses, or any combination of the 
foregoing, the plan for which does not correspond in lot size, bulk, or type of use, 
density, lot coverage, open space, or other restriction to the existing land use regulations.

Section 2. Section 2-160(A) of the Morgan County Zoning Regulations is amended 
to read as follows: 

Minimum processing fees for zoning amendments, rezoning and planned development 
rezoning, conditional and special use permits, variances, sign permits, building permits, 
zoning permits, manufactured home placement permits, and other permits required by 
these Regulations will be established and be subject to change from time to time upon 
approval of the Board of County Commissioners.

Section 3. Section 2-510(A) of the Morgan County Zoning Regulations is deleted in 
its entirety and the subsequent subsections are to be re-lettered accordingly. 

Section 4. Section 2-267 of the Morgan County Zoning Regulations is amended to 
read as follows:

For the purpose of establishing and maintaining sound, stable and desirable development 
within the County, the rezoning of land is to be discouraged and allowed only under 
circumstances provided for in these Regulations. This policy is based on the opinion of 
the Board that the County’s Zoning Map is the result of a detailed and comprehensive 
appraisal of the County’s present and future needs regarding land use allocation and other 
zoning considerations and, as such, should not be amended unless to correct manifest 
errors or because of change or changing conditions in a particular area or the County in 
general. The rezoning process shall not apply to Zoning Map amendments that have 
broad application and are in the nature of policy making by the County.

Section 5. Section 2-270(F) of the Morgan County Zoning Regulations is amended to 
read as follows:

A list of names and addresses of property owners within one thousand three hundred and 
twenty (1320) feet of the perimeter of the property or properties to be rezoned.

Section 6. Section 2-275(D) of the Morgan County Zoning Regulations is amended 
to read as follows:

Availability of Information. The proposed rezoning application, if applicable, and map 
shall be available for inspection at the Planning Department beginning fourteen (14) days 
prior to the Planning Commission hearing until the final decision by the Board.

Section 7. Section 2-280(A) of the Morgan County Zoning Regulations is amended 
to read as follows:



3
RESOLUTION NO. 2025 BCC 27
AMENDMENTS TO MORGAN COUNTY 
ZONING REGULATIONS – PLANNED DEVELOPMENTS

Publication in a newspaper of general circulation and on the Country’s website which 
shall remain posted through the conclusion of the hearing. Notice shall be in the form 
provided in Appendix A.

Section 8. Section 2-280(B) of the Morgan County Zoning Regulations is amended 
to read as follows:

The applicant shall be required to post notice on the property for which the rezoning is 
requested. Such notice shall consist of at least one (1) sign facing each public right-of-
way adjacent to the property. Such sign(s) shall measure not less than twenty-four by 
thirty-six (24 x 36) inches. The size of the letters should be a minimum of two (2) inches 
high and such signs shall be erected on posts no less than four (4) feet above ground 
level. Such sign(s) shall read as indicated in Appendix A. Signs advertising the rezoning 
of the property must be photographed by the applicant and submitted to the Planning 
Department subject to the following requirements:

*  * *

Section 9. Section 2-280(C) of the Morgan County Zoning Regulations is amended 
to read as follows:

Mailed notice to property owners within one thousand three hundred and twenty (1320) 
feet of the perimeter of the property of properties to be rezoned.

Section 10. Section 2-285(B) of the Morgan County Zoning Regulations is amended 
to read as follows:

The rezoning is compatible with surrounding zone districts;

Section 11. Morgan County Zoning Regulations are amended by the addition of the 
new following section:

2-287 Rezoning to Planned Development

(A) The rezoning procedure shall be used to amend the Official Zoning Map to rezone 
land to the planned development (“PD”) zone district or the planned development 
overlay (“PDO”) zone district. The PD and PDO zone districts provide for a 
development technique which is in the best interest of the County and will 
promote good design, enhancement of environmental amenities and increased 
efficiency of public and private services but also creates a development under 
unified control or a unified plan for residential, commercial, industrial, 
recreational uses, or any combination of the foregoing uses.

(B) The standards and procedures provided in these Zoning Regulations concerning 
planned developments are intended to ensure integrated planning goals and 
objectives of the Comprehensive Plan for Morgan County, while allowing greater 
flexibility and innovations in development and site designs than is typically 
possible under the base zone district.



4
RESOLUTION NO. 2025 BCC 27
AMENDMENTS TO MORGAN COUNTY 
ZONING REGULATIONS – PLANNED DEVELOPMENTS

(C) Planned Development and Planned Development Overlay Zone Districts

(1) Planned Development Zone District. Establishment of a PD zone district is 
intended to completely supplant zoning regulations as established in the 
base zone district regulations. Applicants are expected to provide all 
appropriate documents to establish regulations for the planned 
development zone district. 

(2) Planned Development Overlay Zone District. The PDO zone district is 
intended to allow for deviations from the base zone district regulations but 
does not fully supplant the base zone district regulations.

(D) Eligibility

(1) Minimum area to be eligible for rezoning to the PD or PDO zone districts 
is one-half (1/2) acre. Primarily residential developments must have a 
minimum of five existing or planned lots to be eligible for rezoning to a 
PD or PDO zone district. Rezoning to the PD or PDO zone districts is not 
required to subdivide land. 

(2) Subdivision applications submitted concurrently or subsequent to the 
rezoning application to the PD or PDO zone districts must satisfy the 
above eligibility criteria.

(E) Submittal Requirements.  In addition to the submittal requirements of a rezoning 
application, an application for rezoning to the PD or PDO zone districts shall 
include the items in this Section. The submittal requirements in this Section may 
be waived or altered by the Planning Administrator in the Planning 
Administrator’s sole discretion. The Planning Administrator may request 
additional information if necessary to process the application and evaluate the 
application under applicable standards and criteria.

(1) A description of the character of the proposed development, the goals and 
objectives of the project, and explanation of the rationale behind the 
assumption and choices made by the applicant, and an explanation of the 
manner in which it has been planned to generally conform to Morgan 
County’s Comprehensive Plan. The description shall include a discussion 
of the project’s impact and influence on surrounding zone districts and 
existing uses. 

(2) A general description and detailed studies, if required by the Planning 
Administrator, of the impact the project will have on public services. 
General description of the concept and method for providing utility 
services to the project; domestic water development and supply plan and 
description of water rights associated with the project. Underground 
utilities are favored for residential developments. Areas of particular 
interest are roads, schools, fire protection, and law enforcement. 
Information provided shall be detailed enough to permit the County, other 



5
RESOLUTION NO. 2025 BCC 27
AMENDMENTS TO MORGAN COUNTY 
ZONING REGULATIONS – PLANNED DEVELOPMENTS

local governments and agencies to evaluate the impact of the project on 
their ability to provide services. 

(3) A development schedule detailing the timing of the installation and 
construction of public improvements and the phases of the development, if 
applicable. The phasing shall coordinate development of all land uses with 
the construction and installation of improvements in a timely fashion. All 
phases shall be adequately described and a map of the phases included if 
required by the Planning Administrator.

(4) A development plan that formally establishes the standards and 
requirements for development within the entire property to be rezoned a 
PD or PDO zone district. The plan shall include but not be limited to the 
following, as applicable:

(a) The location, height and dimensions of each existing structure in 
the development and the uses to be contained therein.

(b) The boundary and the proper building setbacks and building area 
with reference to said boundary lines and to property lines, 
highways, or street rights-of-way.

(c) A list of all permitted, conditional and special use and any 
associated standards.

(d) A summary data chart indicting: size of the development, proposed 
population and dwelling unit density, various land uses within the 
approximate acres and percent of development. All density figures 
shall represent maximum numbers. 

(e) Buffer requirements

(f) Parking requirements

(g) Sign regulations

(h) For planned developments in which maintenance of roads, 
common areas, open space, or facilities normally maintained by 
public entities are proposed to be maintained by homeowners’ 
associations, or other non-governmental bodies, the applicant shall 
submit a maintenance plan. Maintenance plan shall include the 
following:

(i) Identification of present and proposed ownership for the 
facilities or areas included within the maintenance plan. In 
the case of condominiums, townhouses, or other multiple 
dwelling units, the method of conveying title and the land 
to be conveyed shall be noted;



6
RESOLUTION NO. 2025 BCC 27
AMENDMENTS TO MORGAN COUNTY 
ZONING REGULATIONS – PLANNED DEVELOPMENTS

(ii) Proposed method of guaranteeing maintenance;

(iii) Proposed form of unified control, which shall include 
identification and description of corporations, partnerships, 
trusts, owners associations, or other legal entities having 
the right to assess individual landowners within the 
development and identification of the method proposed to 
enforce required assessments;

(iv) Date of implementation of the provisions of the proposed 
method of guaranteeing maintenance. Appropriate 
recording of such documents and agreements as may be 
required shall be a condition of any plan approval;

(v) Cost of capital construction for proposed facilities, cost of 
maintenance for such facilities per year, amount proposed 
to be assessed to meet such expenses;

(vi) Proposed administration mechanism to ensure that 
maintenance is carried out as planned. In the County’s 
discretion, suitable collateral to ensure that in case of 
discontinuance of control and maintenance, the County 
may, but shall not be required to, assume such duties as 
may be appropriate without additional cost to the taxpayer. 
Collateral shall be limited to an irrevocable letter of credit, 
or such other method of ensuring and guaranteeing such 
maintenance as may be approved by the Board.

(i) For PDO plan, the following information shall be included:

(i) a statement of the base zone district.

(ii) a clear description of deviations from the base zone district.

(j) For PD or PDO rezoning applications involving residential 
development, identification of any confined animal feeding 
operation, packing plant, slaughterhouse, or rendering plant located 
within one-thousand three hundred and twenty (1320) feet of any 
portion of the exterior boundary of the property to be rezoned. 
Distance to the confined animal feeding operation, packing plant, 
slaughterhouse, or rendering plant shall be measured from the 
property line of the planned development upon which the use is 
located. 

(k) A planned development map complying with the requirements of 
Sec. 2-460 and include the following information as applicable:



7
RESOLUTION NO. 2025 BCC 27
AMENDMENTS TO MORGAN COUNTY 
ZONING REGULATIONS – PLANNED DEVELOPMENTS

(i) The cover sheet shall include the title of the planned 
development.

(ii) Land use summary chart that identifies, by each land use 
type and subdistrict or area, the following (as applicable):

A. area and percent of total area.

B. number of lots.

C. number of dwelling units and types.

D. dwelling units per land use area.

E. square footage of non-residential.

F. total acreage and gross density.

G. parks and open space dedication total.

H. private parks and open space total.

(iii) General layout/location/area of land uses if planned 
development is divided into separate subdistricts or areas.

(5) Written confirmation from all utility providers of an ability to serve the 
development.

(6) Any general physiographic and environmental studies of the proposed site 
if required by the Planning Administrator. These may include but are not 
limited to:

(a) Wildlife report and/or wildlife impact mitigation plan.

(b) Revegetation and erosion control plan; this will be required if the 
undeveloped property is presently cultivated or does not have 
adequate ground cover.

(c) Floodplain studies and/or mitigation reports.

(d) Drainage plans showing runoff patterns and proposed drainage 
control structures or easements, prepared by a licensed Colorado 
engineer.

(F) Review Procedure and Notice. Applications for rezoning to PD or PDO zone 
districts shall be subject to the review procedures in Sec. 2-275 and the notice 
requirements in Sec. 2-280. In addition, applications for rezoning to the PD zone 
district shall require referral to the following agencies:



8
RESOLUTION NO. 2025 BCC 27
AMENDMENTS TO MORGAN COUNTY 
ZONING REGULATIONS – PLANNED DEVELOPMENTS

(1) All necessary County departments, including but not limited to Public 
Works, Sheriff’s Office, Ambulance Services, Emergency Management, 
and County Attorney. 

(2) Northeast Colorado Health Department.

(3) Colorado Parks and Wildlife. 

(4) Relevant public utility companies. 

(5) The appropriate fire protection agency.

(6) The local soil conservation district.

(7) Municipalities and counties located within two (2) miles of the boundary 
of the area to be rezoned. 

(8) Other agencies as deemed necessary by the Staff.

(G) Review Criteria. The following criteria will be used by the County when 
reviewing an application for rezoning to a PD or PDO zone district and approval 
of the proposed plan:

(1) The proposed PD or PDO rezoning constitutes a unique and truly 
innovative project to be constructed within a reasonable period of time in 
relation to the project’s size and scope and which will be of economic 
benefit to Morgan County.

(2) The proposed PD or PDO rezoning is found to be in general conformity 
with the County’s Comprehensive Plan.

(3) The PD or PDO rezoning application complies with the Planned 
Development Standards in Secs. 3-500 through 3-590 as applicable.

(4) The proposed PD or PDO zone district’s relationship to and compatibility 
with its surroundings, including whether proposed uses are commonly 
developed or are allowed land use adjacent to the area as a PD or PDO 
zone district.

(5) Design and construction of the development shall include adequate, safe, 
and convenient arrangements for pedestrian circulation, roadways, 
driveways, off-road parking, and loading space, as applicable.

(6) The development must have an adequate internal road circulation system. 
Public roads must serve all planning areas and meet construction standards 
as required by the County and adequately sized for emergency vehicles. 
The development shall also provide for adequate egress and ingress so as 
not to impede traffic along existing public roads. Each nonresidential 



9
RESOLUTION NO. 2025 BCC 27
AMENDMENTS TO MORGAN COUNTY 
ZONING REGULATIONS – PLANNED DEVELOPMENTS

structure or use in the development must provide off-road loading spaces, 
loading berths, utility service areas, or access for delivery and service 
vehicles. The road plan shall be prepared by a registered Colorado 
engineer.

(7) That existing and proposed public services are adequate for the proposed 
development, and that proposed public services will be timely provided. 
Public services shall include any necessary utilities, emergency services or 
other government provided services.

(8) There are demonstrated positive benefits to the County with the PD or 
PDO zone district classification versus a base district zone classification.

(9) The PD or PDO development demonstrates uniform treatment of dwelling 
type, bulk, density and open space.

(10) Allows innovations in development and renewal so that the growing 
demands of population may be met by greater variety and types, design 
and layout of buildings and the conservation, specialized interests and 
more efficient use of open space ancillary to said buildings.

(11) Any PD or PDO rezoning application is subject to Sec. 6-150(C) of the 
County’s Subdivision Regulations. 

(H) Post-Decision Actions

(1) The applicant shall prepare all necessary final documents as required by 
the Board and Staff, as a result of the approval or conditional approval. 
Failure of the applicant to submit all necessary and executed final 
documents within six (6) months of adoption of the resolution approving 
or conditionally approving the application.

(2) Upon submission of all final documentation in conformity with the 
approval or conditional approval and these Regulations, Staff shall record, 
at the applicant’s cost, the development plan and any associated 
documentation.

(I) Amendments to PD or PDO plans

(1) Minor amendments may be approved by the Board of County 
Commissioners. Major amendments shall be required to comply with the 
submittal requirements and review procedures for planned development or 
planned development overlay applications, as applicable. The 
determination of whether an amendment is major or minor shall be made 
by the Planning Administrator according to this subsection (I).

(2) Minor amendments shall include the following:



10
RESOLUTION NO. 2025 BCC 27
AMENDMENTS TO MORGAN COUNTY 
ZONING REGULATIONS – PLANNED DEVELOPMENTS

(a) Increases in density of up to fifteen (15) percent increase over the 
originally approved density.

(b) Reduction of less than fifteen (15) percent of areas reserved for the 
open space and recreation areas.

(c) Increases in the floor areas for non-residential uses by up to fifteen 
(15) percent.

(d) Increases in the total ground area covered by buildings up to 
fifteen (15) percent.

(e) Reduction in the setbacks by up to twenty-five (25) percent.

(f) Variance in the lot area requirements by up to twenty-five (25) 
percent.

(3) Major amendments shall include any modification not considered a minor 
amendment.

(4) Review Procedures for Minor Amendments

(a) Pre-application conference. Prior to submission of an amendment 
application, each applicant shall attend a pre-application 
conference with the Planning Department. After the pre-
application conference, the Planning Department may provide the 
applicant with written comments regarding the proposed 
amendment to inform and assist the applicant prior to the 
preparation of the application.

(b) Review of Submission. Staff shall review the submittal materials 
within fifteen (15) working days and provide the applicant with 
initial written comments, specifically noting any inadequacies in 
the submittal materials. Staff may request that the applicant make 
changes or clarifications to the submittal materials prior to review 
by the Board of County Commissioners. An incomplete submittal 
will not be processed.

(c) Availability of Information. The proposed amendment application 
shall be available for inspection at the Planning Department 
beginning fourteen (14) days prior to the Board hearing and until 
the final decision by the Board.

(d) Board Hearing. The Board shall hold a public hearing on the 
application. Notice of the public hearings shall be given in 
accordance with Sec. 2-280.



11
RESOLUTION NO. 2025 BCC 27
AMENDMENTS TO MORGAN COUNTY 
ZONING REGULATIONS – PLANNED DEVELOPMENTS

(e) Decision. Within fifteen (15) days of the closing of the public 
hearing, the Board shall render a decision on the application. The 
Board shall consider all evidence presented and make specific 
findings by resolution.

(5) Criteria for Amendments. The criteria for an amendment to the PD or 
PDO plan are as follows:

(a) Consistent with the nature of the PD or PDO plan and compatible 
with the land uses and character of the PD or PDO plan.

(b) General conformity with the County’s Comprehensive Plan.

(c) Compliant with Planned Development Standards. 

(d) Compatible with the health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of 
Morgan County.

(6) Post-Decision Actions

(a) The applicant shall prepare all necessary final documents as 
required by the Board and Staff, as a result of the approval or 
conditional approval. Failure of the applicant to submit all 
necessary and executed final documents within six (6) months of 
the completion of the public hearing before the Board shall void 
the approval or conditional approval.

(b) Upon submission of all final documentation in conformity with the 
approval or conditional approval and these Regulations, Staff shall 
record, at the applicant’s cost, the amended development plan and 
approving documentation.

Section 12. Section 3-115 of the Morgan County Zoning Regulations is amended to 
read as follows and by deletion of the reference to Planned Development Zone: 

In order to carry out provisions of these Regulations, Morgan County, Colorado, is 
hereby and in the future may be, divided into the following base zoning districts:

* * *

Section 13. Current sections 3-425 through 3-505 of the Morgan County Zoning 
Regulations are deleted in their entirety, including the heading “Planning Development Zone 
(PD)”.

Section 14. Sections 3-510, 3-515, and 3-520 of the Morgan County Zoning 
Regulations are renumbered, as applicable, and amended to read as follows:

3-500 Applicability



12
RESOLUTION NO. 2025 BCC 27
AMENDMENTS TO MORGAN COUNTY 
ZONING REGULATIONS – PLANNED DEVELOPMENTS

The standards herein shall apply to PD and PDO zone districts, as applicable. An 
applicant shall consult with the Planning Department to determine which standards are 
applicable.

3-510 Density

The density of land uses within the PD or PDO District shall be compatible with other 
uses within the PD or PDO zone district and the surrounding area. Compatibility shall be 
determined by, but not limited to, type of land uses, access, buffering, availability of 
services and infrastructure.

3-520 Uses

(A) Residential.  Residential uses shall be designed and located to achieve an efficient 
and desirable use of land, and efficient and desirable use and placement of the 
necessary public and/or private infrastructure. 

(B) Non-Residential. Non-Residential uses shall be designed and located to achieve 
greater convenience to residential areas, efficient and desirable use of land, 
desirable use and placement of necessary public and/or private infrastructure, and 
to minimize the impact on transportation and drainage facilities. 

(C) Prohibited Uses.  Uses expressly prohibited by the Zoning Regulations shall not 
be permitted in a PD or PDO zone district.

(D) Use Permit.  Use classifications (i.e., use by right, conditional use, special use, 
etc.) will be governed by the permitting procedures in the Zoning Regulations and 
may not be altered by the development plan.

Section 15. Sections 3-525, 3-535, 3-540, 3-545, 3-560, 3-565, and 3-575 of the 
Morgan County Zoning Regulations are deleted in their entirety.

Section 16. Section 3-530 of the Morgan County Zoning Regulations is amended to 
read as follows:

3-530 Open Space

(A) Open space may be required by the County if the development is subject to the 
open space requirements in the County’s Subdivision Regulations. When not 
required by the County, open space may be provided within the PD or PDO zone 
district. The applicant may provide additional open space beyond any County 
requirements.

(B) Streams, lakes, other bodies of water, slopes not in excess of thirty (30) percent, 
and floodplains may be included as open space. Parks with improvements shall be 
included in open space. Land areas containing identified geologic hazards may 
not be included in the open space amounts.



13
RESOLUTION NO. 2025 BCC 27
AMENDMENTS TO MORGAN COUNTY 
ZONING REGULATIONS – PLANNED DEVELOPMENTS

(C) Any amount of common or public open space may be left in its natural state.

Section 17. Section 3-555 of the Morgan County Zoning Regulations is renumbered 
and amended by the to read as follows:

3-540 Circulation

(A) Development within a PD or PDO zone district shall be designed and constructed 
to include adequate, safe, and convenient arrangement for vehicular circulation, 
off-street parking, and loading spaces. Vehicular circulation shall correlate with 
the external traffic system. Pedestrian circulation may be required to correlate to 
an external pedestrian system if one exists or is planned. All public roads shall be 
constructed as directed by the County based upon County standards or standards 
adopted by the Colorado Department of Transportation, in the County’s sole 
discretion. Paving is encouraged. The County may accept roads as public roads in 
its sole discretion and has no obligation to undertake maintenance responsibilities 
for any road.

(B) If any bridges are to be constructed within the development on public or private 
roads, these shall be built at the developer’s expense to standards adopted by the 
Colorado Department of Transportation and in full compliance with the dredge 
and fill laws of local, state and federal jurisdictions.

Section 18. Section 3-580 of the Morgan County Zoning Regulations is renumbered 
and amended to read as follows:

3-550 Buffering and Screening

(A) Uses, buildings or structures within the PD or PDO zone district that would not be 
considered compatible with other uses, buildings, or structures within and 
adjacent to the PD or PDO zone district shall be adequately buffered and screened 
to ensure their appearance and operation will be compatible to the surrounding 
uses. 

(B) Where a PD is adjacent to a railroad, state or federal highway right-of-way, a 
permanent open space at least thirty-five (35) feet in width shall be required as a 
setback from these rights-of-way line(s).  This area shall be kept free of buildings, 
structures and parking and contain permanently maintained landscaping, unless 
screened or protected by natural features or fences or other types of barriers.  
Fences or barriers on the highway rights-of-way shall have a maximum height of 
three (3) feet. 

Section 19. Section 3-585 of the Morgan County Zoning Regulations is renumbered 
and amended to read as follows:

3-560 Drainage and Utilities 



14
RESOLUTION NO. 2025 BCC 27
AMENDMENTS TO MORGAN COUNTY 
ZONING REGULATIONS – PLANNED DEVELOPMENTS

The drainage plan shall include water quality features that improve the quality of 
stormwater runoff resulting from the impacts of site development. Detention basins or 
other suitable water quality features shall be designed to provide he required water 
quality capture volume to reduce the transportation of pollution and sediment into the 
South Platte River, its tributaries, or other established ditches and canals. The required 
water quality capture volume of a feature is based on the site’s size and imperviousness. 
An accepted methodology for water quality feature design may be found in the Mile High 
Flood District Criteria Manual, Volume 3, Best Management Practices.

(A) The drainage system shall be designed for the development by a registered 
professional engineer and shall be constructed in accordance with such design.

(B) The drainage plan shall include techniques and measures to prevent erosion on the 
site as well as into the South Platte River, any of its tributaries, or other 
established ditches and canals during and after construction.

(C) The storm drainage and run-off system is to be designed for sufficient capacity to 
store the runoff generated from the 1-hour, 100-year storm falling on the fully 
developed site that is in excess of the historic runoff resulting from the 1-hour, 
100-year storm falling on the pre-developed site. All drainage construction areas 
are to be revegetated. Historic off-site flows may be diverted around the detention 
basin but may not be diverted onto adjacent properties during or after 
construction. 

(D) Final locations of connection points to existing utility (sewer, water, telephone, 
electricity, etc.) systems, both on or off the site and line layouts and sizes on the 
site are to be provided in coordination with responsible utility districts. All utility 
easements shall be dedicated to the proper utility providers.

Section 20. Section 3-570 of the Morgan County Zoning Regulations is amended to 
read as follows:

3-570 Maintenance Plans

Failure to maintain areas that are not maintained by public entities in a reasonable order 
and condition in accordance with the approved PD or PDO zone district may result in the 
County, at its own discretion, correcting the deficiencies as provided in C.R.S § 24-67-
105(6)(c) and (d).

Section 21. Section 3-580 of the Morgan County Zoning Regulations is amended to 
read as follows:

3-580 Improvements Agreements

The developer shall be required to construct and install all necessary public 
improvements and enter into an improvements agreement to ensure all necessary 
facilities are constructed and installed in a timely manner. The improvements agreement, 
in a form provided by the County, shall include the following:



15
RESOLUTION NO. 2025 BCC 27
AMENDMENTS TO MORGAN COUNTY 
ZONING REGULATIONS – PLANNED DEVELOPMENTS

(A) Such agreement shall, at a minimum, set forth:

(1) Construction specifications for required public improvements;

(2) A construction and completion schedule;

(3) Provide for security and guarantees concerning the timely and satisfactory 
completion of the improvements;

(4) Identify the terms and conditions for the approval of the improvements by 
the County or any applicable utility providers;

(5) A two-year warranty period during which all improvements be maintained 
by the developer at the cost of the developer until such improvements have 
been fully approved by the County or any applicable utility providers.

(B) An improvements agreement shall run with the land and bind all successors, heirs, 
and assignees of the owner.

(C) Improvements agreements shall include a requirement for the posting of adequate 
financial security to ensure the timely, complete, and satisfactory construction or 
installation of all public improvements and infrastructure as called for in the 
agreement. Security shall be in an amount not less than one hundred fifteen (115) 
percent of the estimated cost of completion of all improvements or infrastructure 
and may be provided by letter of credit, cash escrow, or other financial instrument 
as approved by the County within its sole discretion.

(1) If a developer posts a letter of credit as security, it shall:

(a) Be irrevocable.

(b) Be for a term, inclusive of renewals, sufficient to cover the 
completion, maintenance and warranty periods.

(c) Require only that the County present the letter of credit with a 
demand and an affidavit signed by the Chair of the Board of 
County Commissioners attesting to the County’s right to draw 
funds under the letter of credit. 

(2) If a developer posts a cash escrow, the escrow instructions shall provide:

(a) That the developer shall have no right to a return of any of the 
funds except as provided in the agreement.

(b) That the escrow agent shall have a legal duty to deliver the funds 
to the County whenever the County presents an affidavit to the 
agent attesting to the County’s right to receive funds, whether or 
not the developer protests that right.



16
RESOLUTION NO. 2025 BCC 27
AMENDMENTS TO MORGAN COUNTY 
ZONING REGULATIONS – PLANNED DEVELOPMENTS

(D) Reduction of Security

(1) Upon preliminary approval of a public improvement or public 
infrastructure, the County shall release all but fifteen (15) percent of the 
total actual costs of construction and installation of all improvements, so 
long as the developer is not in default of any provision of the 
improvements agreement.

(2) The residual fifteen (15) percent retained by the County shall act as 
security for the developer’s guarantee that the public improvements and 
infrastructure remain free of defect during the applicable warranty period. 
The developer may at any time during the preliminary approval or 
warranty period offer to provide a substitute or supplemental form of 
financial security to that security as originally posted with and/or retained 
by the County. The County may accept substitute or supplemental forms 
of security in its sole discretion.

(E) Coordination with Subdivision Applications

If the land subject to the PD or PDO zone district will be subdivided and a 
subdivision application is submitted concurrently with the rezoning application, 
the County may delay the imposition of the requirement to enter into 
improvements agreement until final plat in accordance with the County’s 
Subdivision Regulations.

Section 22. Section 3-590 of the Morgan County Zoning Regulations is amended to 
read as follows:

3-590 Enforcement

The provisions and standards of an approved and recorded PD or PDO plan is an 
extension of the Zoning Regulations and may be enforced in the same manner as these 
Zoning Regulations and through any method of enforcement under the law.

Section 23. Section 3-705 of the Morgan County Zoning Regulations is amended to 
read as follows: 

(A) All users of land in all Zones shall provide and maintain water detention facilities 
designed to detain the storm water runoff in excess of historic flow from the 
undeveloped site. Detention storage shall be provided by a method acceptable to 
the County and shall be designed on the basis of the following criteria:

(1) The detention pond shall be sized to store the stormwater runoff generated 
by the 1-hour, 100-year storm falling on the developed site that is in 
excess of the historic runoff rate of the 1-hour, 100-year storm falling on 
the undeveloped site. Historic is defined as an undeveloped site with two 
(2) percent imperviousness. At the County’s discretion, a more stringent 
detention storage requirement may be imposed.



17
RESOLUTION NO. 2025 BCC 27
AMENDMENTS TO MORGAN COUNTY 
ZONING REGULATIONS – PLANNED DEVELOPMENTS

(2) Off-site flows may be routed over the detention pond spillway or routed 
around the pond. 

(3) Outlet structures shall be sized and structurally designed to release the 
post-development peak discharge runoff rate in excess of the historic 
runoff rate for the 1-hour, 100-year event without structural or hydraulic 
failure. Historic is defined in subsection (1) above. In the event where a 
more stringent release rate is imposed by the County, the outlet structure 
shall be sized and structurally designed for such rate.

(4) An emergency spillway capable of conveying the 1-hour, 100-year storm 
peak discharge runoff draining into the detention pond shall be provided. 
The invert of the emergency spillway must be equal to, or above, the 100-
year water surface elevation. The spillway shall be designed with effective 
erosion protection. Riprap shall be engineered and properly sized to 
prevent catastrophic erosion failure. 

(5) The elevation of the top of the detention pond embankment, except at the 
spillway, shall provide a minimum of 1-foot of freeboard above the 100-
year water surface elevation in the detention pond.

(6) The detention pond shall be designed to drain accordance with C.R.S. § 
37-92-602(8), as amended.

(B) Buildings, hard surfacing, altercation of historic drainage patterns, or construction 
of any surface that inhibits soil permeability requiring a building permit shall not 
be constructed until draining plans for such improvements are approved by 
County Staff.

(C) Drainage plans are to be included with submittal documents when required by the 
Planning Administrator.

(D) Exemptions from on-site flood control detention requirements may be granted by 
the County when one of the following circumstances exist:

(1) The total change in impervious area covers approximately ten thousand 
(10,000) square feet or less; or

(2) The site for which detention would be required is adjacent to a major 
drainageway where the ratio of major drainageway basin area to site is 
1000:1 or more; or

(3) The site for which detention would be required drains into a publicly 
owned and maintained regional detention facility designed to 
accommodate flows from a fully developed basin, provided that adequate 
conveyance of 100-year developed flows from the site to the regional 
facility is provided; or



18
RESOLUTION NO. 2025 BCC 27
AMENDMENTS TO MORGAN COUNTY 
ZONING REGULATIONS – PLANNED DEVELOPMENTS

(4) Minor subdivisions that are not located in historically flood-prone areas or 
areas where drainage is substantially impaired by local topography or prior 
development.

(E) Whether an exemption described in subsections (1) through (4) above should be 
granted shall be determined by the Planning Administrator, upon evaluation of the 
request by the County engineer with drainage expertise.

(F) Qualification in any of the exemption criteria listed above does not preclude the 
requirement of a drainage plan in accordance with these Zoning Regulations. 
Furthermore, a flood control detention exemption does not grant an exemption 
from erosion and sedimentation controls, water quality treatment and best 
management practices, which shall be provided regardless of the size or location 
of the site.

Section 24. Section 4-115 of the Morgan County Zoning Regulations is amended to 
read as follows:

A campground shall have a density of not more than fifteen (15) units per acre. 

APPROVED this 17th day of June, 2025.

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS
MORGAN COUNTY, COLORADO

__________________________________________
Jon J. Becker, Chair

Tim A. Malone, Commissioner

__________________________________________
Kelvin S. Bernhardt, Commissioner    

ATTEST:
(SEAL)

_____________________________
Kevin Strauch, Clerk to the Board



 
Page 1 of 2 

Resolution 2025 BCC 28 
Bellendir West Minor Subdivision 

 
 

MORGAN COUNTY, COLORADO  
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

 
RESOLUTION 2025 BCC 28 

 
A RESOLUTION GRANTING A TWO-LOT MINOR SUBDIVISION, KNOWN AS 

BELLENDIR WEST MINOR SUBDIVISION, LOCATED IN THE NW¼ OF SECTION 
10, TOWNSHIP 4 NORTH, RANGE 57 WEST OF THE 6TH OF P.M., MORGAN 

COUNTY, COLORADO 
 

WHEREAS, Timothy J. Bellendir and Marva L. Bellendir (the “Owners”) own property 
located in the NW¼ of Section 10, Township 4 North, Range 57 West of the 6th P.M., Morgan County, 
Colorado, (the “Property”); 
 

WHEREAS, Timmy Bellendir and Bre Gilliland (the “Applicants”) applied for a two-lot 
minor subdivision pursuant to the County’s Subdivision Regulations (“Application”); 
 

WHEREAS, on April 28, 2025, the Morgan County Planning Commission held a duly 
noticed public hearing on the Application; 

 
WHEREAS, during the public hearing, the Planning Commission received testimony and 

evidence from the Applicants, Morgan County staff, and the public and recommended approval;  
 
WHEREAS, on May 6, 2025, the Board of County Commissioners (“Board”) held a duly 

noticed public hearing on the Application; 
 
 WHEREAS, during the public hearing, the Board received testimony and evidence from 
the Applicants, Morgan County staff, and the public; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board desires to approve the Application.  
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS OF MORGAN COUNTY, COLORADO: 
 

1. FINDINGS OF FACT 
 
The Board, having reviewed the application, all information provided and testimony heard, 
finds that: 

 
A. The application documents are complete and represent how the subdivision will be 

laid out including infrastructure, easements and access. A shared access 
acknowledgment has been signed and recorded in the records of the Morgan county 
Clerk and Recorder for the shared driveway off of County Road 21. 



 
Page 2 of 2 

Resolution 2025 BCC 28 
Bellendir West Minor Subdivision 

 
 

B. The subdivision is in conformance with the Morgan County Comprehensive Plan 
and there is access to established public infrastructure. 
 

C. The subdivision is compatible with surrounding land uses. 
 

2. GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 

A. Any past, present, or future drainage problems on this site are the responsibility of the 
landowner and their successors and not that of Morgan County. 

 
B. Morgan County is not responsible for the quantity or quality of water supplied to 

this subdivision. 
 

3. APPROVAL 
 
The Board hereby approves the Bellendir West Minor Subdivision, located in the NW¼ of 
Section 10, Township 4 North, Range 57 West of the 6th P.M., Morgan County, Colorado. 
 

 
 

DATED this 17th day of June, 2025. 
 

      BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
MORGAN COUNTY, COLORADO 

 
__________________________________________ 
Jon J. Becker, Chair 

 
              
      Tim A. Malone, Commissioner 
 
      __________________________________________ 
      Kelvin S. Bernhardt, Commissioner     
   

 
ATTEST:                          
(SEAL)   
 
                                                       
_________________________________ 
Kevin Strauch, Clerk to the Board  

 







*Morgan County is committed to making its public meetings accessible to persons with disabilities.  If you 
need special accommodations, please call (970)542-3500, extension 1410, at least 2 business days in 
advance of a meeting to make arrangements. 
 

PREPARED BY:  Mindi Cloyd, Administrative Services Manager for BCC 
Calendar Posted by June 13, 2025 @ 4:00 P.M. 

COMMISSIONERS CALENDAR 
June 13, 2025 through June 24, 2025 

 
Unless otherwise noted, all meetings with department heads and other non-BCC elected officials listed 
above may include an update on the status of the department, a general discussion of projects, any 
matters or concerns that the County needs to address, and activities and operations of the department.  
 

Department meetings may be by conference call or virtual meeting upon request. 
**Calendar subject to change due to agreeable cancellations and/or walk-in business. 

 
** All meetings are held in the Administration Building Assembly Room located at 231 Ensign Street, Fort Morgan unless 

otherwise noted. 

June 13, 2025  Daily County Business 

June 16, 2025 
 

 Daily County Business 

June 17, 2025 9:00 A.M. Board of County Commissioners Meeting (Assembly Room) 
(Please check https://morgancounty.colorado.gov/ for meeting options.) 
 

June 18, 2025 8:00 A.M. 
9:30 A.M. 

Brush Chamber of Commerce (Malone) 
NECALG (Becker) 

June 19, 2025 JUNTEENTH Morgan County Office Closed 

June 20, 2025  Daily County Business 

June 23, 2025 
 

12:45 P.M. Regional Advisory Committee Meeting (Becker) 

June 24, 2025 7:00 A.M. 
10:00 A.M. 

1:00 P.M. 
2:00 P.M. 
3:00 P.M. 
3:30 P.M. 

Fort Morgan Chamber of Commerce 
County Attorney Office Hours 
Planning & Zoning/Building Department Work Session 
Emergency Management Work Session 
Veteran Services Work Session 
Solid Waste Work Session 

https://morgancounty.colorado.gov/


1 
 

ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION: 

Solar, BESS and WEF 

1. Address defensible space - solar & BESS 
a. Current regulation (Solar): None 
b. Proposed change (Solar): None 
c. Current regulation (BESS): None (but 200 ft imposed through conditions on previous 

BESS permits) 
d. Proposed change (BESS): 200 ft/PC Recommendation: 100 ft 

 
e. Addition information: 

 
i. NFPA 855 - Areas within 10 ft (3 m) on each side of outdoor BESS shall be cleared 

of combustible vegetation and other combustible growth.  However, response 
guidelines in the NFPA recommend a distance of 100 ft be cleared based upon 
explosion modeling.  
 

ii. Chief Uhrick with Brush and Chief Boehm with Fort Morgan think the defensible 
space should be at a minimum of 100 ft, but would prefer 200ft for both the BESS 
and Solar facility.  

 
Chief Hinson with Wiggins thinks the BESS facilities should have 200 ft. The solar 
panels would have 100 ft with 3 ft clearance of ground cover on each side of the 
fencing since the transformer/ transmission boxes are usually located at the end of a 
solar panel row. 

 
2. Should there be container standards or is the definition enough? 

 
a. The County could require UL 9540 certification of the containers and compliance with 

NFPA 855.  See: https://www.mayfield.energy/technical-articles/ul-9540-and-9540a-
explained/ 
 

3. Incident reporting –  
 
a. What is the appropriate language for balance for both industry and the County? 

 
i. Definition of failure, not currently in the regulations or proposed. Staff believe the 

definition is acceptable.  
 

ii. Definition of minor incident is the same as in proposed amendments, except COSSA 
proposing the use of the term “single” instead of “one” before BESS container.  
 

iii. Definition of major incident is the same as current regulations (with amendments) with 
the exception that the failure or fire would be simultaneous as proposed COSSA.  Staff 
has no concerns with the proposed change by COSSA.  
 

https://www.mayfield.energy/technical-articles/ul-9540-and-9540a-explained/
https://www.mayfield.energy/technical-articles/ul-9540-and-9540a-explained/


2 
 

iv. Shut down after a major incident.  County’s proposed amendments require the shut down 
of the entire facility.   COSSA proposes a shut down the affected portion of the facility 
and when necessary, the entire facility, if required to protect life and safety.  COSSA’s 
proposed changes do not describe who makes the determination that the entire facility 
should be shut down.  
 

v. Reporting.  The County’s proposed amendments require incident notification within three 
days (calendar) of the incident.  COSSA is proposing three business days.  Staff objects 
to this change as it might delay any reporting for incidents that occur at the end of a week 
or over a weekend.  
 

vi. After action review report.  COSSA is suggesting the following specific contents of the 
report: 1) a root cause analysis; 2) A summary of containment and emergency response 
measures; and 3) recommended corrective actions.   The County’s proposed amendment 
require that the after action review report identify any change to the operations of the BESS 
facility necessary to maintain life and safety within the facility and neighboring residential 
properties.  Staff is supportive of COSSA’s language.  
 

vii. Hearing.  The County’s proposed amendments require a hearing before the BOCC to 
resume operations after a major incident or after 4 minor incidents in one calendar year.   
COSSA’s proposes that operations can resume after all recommended corrective actions 
have been completed, upon submission of a certified report from the licensed PE, 
considering the findings and recommendations in the after-action report stating that the 
facility, or relevant portions may resume operations. 

 
 

b. Incident reporting - Include updates on the County's website 
 

i. Proposed language: 
 

4-860 Battery Energy Storage System (BESS) Standards  

(G)(2) Upon the occurrence of either type of incident, the owner or operator shall issue 
an incident notification within three (3) days of the incident. The incident notification will 
describe the time, duration or nature of incident and must be mailed to all property owners 
within a half mile of the BESS facility at the addresses of record through the Morgan 
County Assessor’s Office; the County Planning and Zoning Department; the appropriate 
municipality; the appropriate fire district; Morgan County Sheriff’s Office; Morgan County 
Ambulance Services and Morgan County Emergency Management Department.  The 
incident notification shall be posted on the County’s website. The notice shall remain 
posted through the conclusion of the review of the incident as provided below.  The owner 
or operator shall provide daily updates to the status of the incident and such updates shall 
be posted on the County’s website.  

 
4. Fence standards around solar & BESS 

 
a. Current regulation (solar): no standards 



3 
 

b. Proposed regulation (solar):  no change 
c. Current regulation (BESS):  six foot tall fence 
d. Proposed regulation (BESS):  six foot tall chain linked fence with 1 foot barbed wire (this is 

an industry proposal) 
e. Information from CPW regarding solar fencing is included in the packet.  
 

5. Options for projects not inside a fire district 
 
a. Two options: 1) include or 2) enter into an agreement for fire services with the closet fire 

district and that the agreement must remain in place for the duration of the permit.  Option 
compliance could be prior to construction permit.  

 
6. Discuss wind height setbacks 

 

Attachments 

NFPA 855 provided for Board reference (see Chapter 9.5.2.2 and Annex G.11.8.3)  

CPW_BMP for Solar Energy provided for Board reference 



 

1 
   *Version - 5/27//2021 - BMPs are subject to periodic updates based on the best available science 

 

Colorado Parks and Wildlife Best Management Practices for Solar Energy 
Development 

Colorado Parks and Wildlife has a statutory responsibility to manage all wildlife species in 
Colorado. As such, we encourage protection for Colorado’s wildlife species and habitats through 
responsible energy development and land use planning. Protection of core wildlife areas, quality 
fisheries and habitat, big game production and winter range, and other sensitive wildlife habitats 
are of highest importance. CPW is not a decision-maker with regard to energy development 
permitting. Instead, CPW provides recommendations to local, state, and federal regulatory 
agencies on ways to avoid, minimize, and mitigate impacts from development and land use 
changes, with the goal of providing for the long-term conservation of wildlife and wildlife habitats 
across the State of Colorado.  

Impacts to wildlife will result from all forms of development. However, projects that are large in 
scale, expand development into remote or previously undisturbed areas, displace wildlife from 
crucial habitat, or cause a significant loss of habitat are of greater concern. Due to the large land 
requirements and the projected rate of development, utility-scale solar has the potential to 
significantly impact wildlife populations in Colorado. CPW encourages a scientific approach to 
siting decisions and careful consideration of the impacts to habitat necessary to sustain 
Colorado’s wildlife populations. The recommendations in this document are intended to promote 
responsible development of large scale solar projects, upholding Colorado’s responsibility to 
wildlife while supporting the renewable energy and climate change goals and standards set forth 
by the State of Colorado.  

1.    Assessment of Potential Adverse Effects. The development of utility-scale solar 
energy facilities results in large-scale land use and potentially significant impacts to habitat 
and wildlife. The impacts to wildlife are influenced by the project size, location, and type of 
solar technology installed. CPW takes a site-specific approach to assessing impacts of large-
scale solar project development and presumes that habitat within the project footprint will 
become inaccessible to most wildlife and a functional loss within the larger landscape. In 
collecting information for a new solar project CPW recommends that the proponent conduct 
pre and post-development surveys that assess and measure wildlife utilization of the site in 
order to evaluate how the lost habitat may impact wildlife species. 

2.    Alignment and Compliance with Colorado Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) Rule 
3668-Environmental Impacts. New renewable energy projects are required to follow CPUC 
Rule 3668 and conduct pre-development wildlife surveys, use these surveys to avoid, 
minimize and mitigate potential impacts to wildlife and their habitats, and work with CPW in 
the design of their project. 



2 
*Version - 5/27//2021 - BMPs are subject to periodic updates based on the best available science 

3.    Avoiding/Minimizing Impacts. In selecting sites for construction, focus on options that 
avoid high priority wildlife habitats over the use of mitigation strategies. Impacts to wildlife will 
be lessened when solar development occurs on lands that have been previously disturbed 
and at locations within and adjacent to developed areas. Areas that exhibit high levels of 
wildlife use within the project area would benefit greatly by not placing facility infrastructure, 
including transmission lines, adjacent to or over such areas. Locally, micro-siting of 
infrastructure may be effective in minimizing losses to habitat and wildlife. If all measures for 
avoiding impacts are taken and prove insufficient to adequately protect wildlife and their 
habitat, then CPW recommends appropriate minimization and mitigation strategies be 
identified and implemented in consultation with CPW. 

4.    Habitat Loss and Fragmentation. Habitat loss and fragmentation are significant 
concerns regarding solar development. Minimizing the project footprint can help reduce the 
impacts to wildlife. CPW recommends that the developer consolidate facilities and roads to 
the extent possible to minimize the amount of land that is disturbed and fragmented. 
Perimeter fencing of the facility is of particular concern in addition to the extensive 
infrastructure of solar projects as a whole. Early consultation with CPW is recommended to 
identify high priority habitat that could be impacted by a project. CPW maintains a list of 
species-specific high priority habitats (HPH) in Colorado along with recommendations for 
management actions that may be implemented to avoid, minimize, and mitigate impacts to 
wildlife during land use development. CPW's recommendations were developed internally by 
a team of subject matter experts, are reviewed regularly, and are publicly available on CPW’s 
website. High priority habitats include those that support state species of concern and 
Species of Greatest Conservation Need (SGCN) identified in Colorado’s State Wildlife Action 
Plan and habitats that support wildlife during critical life stages. Because riparian areas are 
important habitats for a variety of wildlife and provide important wildlife movement corridors, a 
layout that maintains riparian access and connectivity for wildlife is preferred. Riparian areas 
within the proposed project area may be of particular concern given the limited availability of 
this habitat in some areas and the proportionally high use by many different species. 
Similarly, playas provide important habitat for waterfowl and other bird species, reptiles, bats, 
and amphibians. Placement of infrastructure within or near playas could impact wildlife 
habitat, increase avian collision risk, and alter playa hydrology. CPW recommends that 
projects with impacts to large playas and high priority playa clusters follow the Best 
Management Practices as put forth by Playa Lakes Joint Venture. If site development 
equates to a significant loss of habitat for any wildlife and/or a barrier to wildlife movement 
across the landscape, CPW may recommend project-specific compensatory mitigation. CPW 
recommends that any compensatory mitigation, including projects funded with monetary 
compensation, occur in the same geographical area as the impacts. A comprehensive 
statewide standard compensatory mitigation program would help address the significant 
habitat impacts resulting from anticipated future solar development throughout the state. 

 



3 
*Version - 5/27//2021 - BMPs are subject to periodic updates based on the best available science 

5.    Study Protocols and Monitoring. Consult with CPW for review and comment on wildlife 
and habitat survey protocol before the protocol is finalized. CPW recommends that surveys 
be conducted to determine the site use and temporal and spatial distribution for wildlife that 
are potentially impacted by the development. The minimum recommended length of study for 
both pre and post-construction surveys for utility-scale solar projects is one year. It is 
recommended that pre-construction and construction/post-construction monitoring be 
conducted using similar methods, so that valid comparisons can be made. CPW requests the 
opportunity to comment on baseline or impact surveys, as well as amendments made to 
infrastructure/facility placement, county permit requirements, or recommendations. CPW 
encourages developers to be proactive in bringing plans for additional phases or 
developments to our attention prior to establishing infrastructure placement and routing. 
Proactive, cooperative efforts will identify concerns early in the project so that they may be 
appropriately addressed prior to final planning and construction. CPW requests the 
developer/operator provide pre-construction and post-construction reports with all forms of 
raw data collected at onset, during, and post construction surveys to CPW’s Regional Energy 
Liaison in a timely manner. 

6.    Wildlife Protection. The development of new solar energy project sites could impact 
wildlife diversity and regionally unique habitat types. CPW recommends that sensitive wildlife 
species and high priority habitat features be identified and buffered when considering 
infrastructure placement and operation, especially during critical nesting periods. We suggest 
continued contact with CPW representatives throughout the planning process to determine 
specific sensitive areas for each of these species.  

The species listed below are suggested as examples only. Please consult with CPW regional 
staff for site-specific impacts and recommendations. 

o Big Game Species. It is recommended that developers work with CPW to identify high priority 
habitat for ungulate species within the proposed project area. CPW recommends avoiding 
development in big game winter range, parturition areas, and migration pathways or pinch points. 
Loss of habitat elsewhere within the range of big game species should be evaluated for impacts, 
including implications for wildlife management. 

o Raptors. Identify raptor nests within the project area and implement an appropriate buffer from 
solar infrastructure and transmission lines. During nesting periods, observe timing stipulations for 
construction activities located near nests.  Raptor species included in CPW’s high priority habitat list 
include bald and golden eagles, Ferruginous hawks, prairie and peregrine falcons, goshawks, and 
Mexican spotted owls. Raptors are likely to use any trees or larger rock escarpments for nesting or 
perching. Prairie dog towns located in the project area provide excellent foraging habitat for 
numerous resident and migratory raptors as well as shelter and nesting habitat for burrowing owls. 
By affording these areas a buffer when considering infrastructure placement, impacts to raptor 
species can be greatly reduced. Species-specific recommendations are available in CPW’s 
Recommended Buffer Zones and Seasonal Restrictions for Colorado Raptors (attached). 



4 
*Version - 5/27//2021 - BMPs are subject to periodic updates based on the best available science 

o Migratory Birds. Consultation with the US Fish & Wildlife Service (USFWS) is recommended to 
ensure compliance with the Migratory Bird Treaty Act (MBTA) and the Bald and Golden Eagle 
Protection Act. The best way to avoid impacts on the nesting efforts of migratory birds is to focus 
construction activities outside of the breeding season. For the majority of species that breeding 
season would be within the time frame April 1 to August 31. If construction must occur during the 
breeding season, CPW recommends surveys for active nests be conducted prior to ground 
disturbance. All migratory birds are protected under the MBTA and removal or disturbance of any 
active migratory bird nest requires consultation with USFWS prior to disturbance. 

o Grouse species (Gunnison sage-grouse, Greater sage-grouse, Columbian sharp-tailed 
grouse, Plains sharp-tailed grouse, Greater prairie-chicken, Lesser prairie-chicken). Consult 
with CPW to site infrastructure, including transmission lines, away from breeding and production 
areas. Grouse species are known to avoid areas of man-made disturbance, including tall structures, 
such as transmission towers and buildings. Roads contribute traffic noise and the possibility of 
collision. Such infrastructure could be a factor in the abandonment of leks, failure of nests, and 
reduced brood-rearing success, and thus, appropriate setbacks are recommended. Consult with 
CPW for species-specific recommendations for buffers from leks, buffers from brood rearing 
habitat, and any associated timing stipulations. Gunnison sage-grouse: The Gunnison sage-
grouse is listed as a threatened species by the USFWS. The USFWS has produced a map of 
Critical Habitat for the species. In some situations (where the landowner has a federal nexus) the 
landowner (and perhaps the operator) may need to consult with the USFWS. 

o Mountain plover and long billed curlew. Identify habitat and plover/curlew nests within the 
project area, and plan construction activity outside of critical nesting periods, April 1st through 
August 15 where these species are found. Mountain plovers can nest in short-grass prairie, dryland 
cultivated farms, and prairie dog towns. Long billed curlews can nest in short grass prairie. 
Mountain Plover and Long Billed Curlew are Colorado species of special concern. 

o Burrowing owls. All prairie dog towns within and adjacent to the proposed project should be 
located prior to construction. If any prairie dog colonies are located within the project area and 
development in prairie dog towns will occur between February 1 and October 31, CPW recommends 
surveys to determine the presence/absence of burrowing owls. If nesting burrowing owls are 
present, CPW recommends no permitted or authorized surface disturbing activities within 660 feet of 
a burrowing owl nest during the nesting season (March 15 ‐ August 31) and buffers of 0.25 mile for 
large industrial disturbances. If burrowing owls merely occupy the site, it is recommended that 
earthmoving and other disturbance activities be delayed until late fall after they have migrated. 
Burrowing Owls are protected under the MBTA and are a State Threatened Species. 

o Bats. Acoustic monitoring of bats is recommended for areas with habitat for bats, near water 
bodies, and near where bats roost. Acoustic monitoring is recommended for spring and fall 
seasons. It is recommended that all survey data collected be accessible and provided to CPW. 

o Kit fox: Identify and avoid maternal kit fox den sites. CPW recommends surveys of suitable kit 
fox habitat for active dens prior to surface disturbance. If dens are present, we recommend the 
operator avoid surface disturbance within 0.25 mile of den sites while young are den dependent 
(approximate dates: Feb 1 to May 1). Any disturbance or destruction of dens while young are 
dependent would be detrimental to the species. 



5 
*Version - 5/27//2021 - BMPs are subject to periodic updates based on the best available science 

o Reptiles and amphibians. Identify high priority reptile and amphibian habitat, including 
escarpments, ephemeral ponds, and wetlands, and avoid during construction and when siting 
infrastructure. With an increase in roads and traffic, reptiles and amphibians could be negatively 
impacted within the project area. CPW recommends the “construction and operational 
considerations” portion of this document be considered to minimize impacts to these species. 

7.    Construction and Operational Considerations. During construction and operations, 
CPW recommends limiting vehicle speeds to 25 mph on project roads. CPW also 
recommends that the construction plan minimize the amount of exposed or open trenches. If 
spans of trenching will be open for extended periods of time CPW recommends the 
installation of trench plugs, earthen ramps, or other means as necessary to ensure that open 
trenches do not trap wildlife or impair wildlife movements. During operations, CPW may have 
site-specific suggestions on limits for on-site visit frequency and timing by service personnel, 
especially during critical nesting periods, to minimize impacts to wildlife. In consultation with 
CPW, projects should include training for construction and operations personnel on wildlife 
laws and enforcement. We also recommend providing education on wildlife issues, such as 
where species might be found, and at what time of day. During the operational phase, CPW 
recommends the operator provide staff training in documenting wildlife mortalities and 
notifying local wildlife officials in a timely manner.  

8.    Weed Management. Weed control measures should be conducted in compliance with 
the Colorado Noxious Weed Act, C.R.S. §35-5.5-115 and the current rules pertaining to the 
administration and enforcement of the Colorado Noxious Weed Act. CPW recommends the 
developer actively eradicate noxious weeds, and develop and implement a noxious weed and 
re-vegetation management plan where there will be disturbance due to construction or 
maintenance activities. Care should also be taken to avoid the spread of noxious weeds, and 
all construction equipment should be cleaned prior to leaving the site. CPW would appreciate 
the opportunity to review the project's Noxious Weed Management Plan prior to the start of 
construction.  

9.    Security Fencing and Lighting. The CPW publication “Fencing with Wildlife in Mind” is 
available for your consideration and review when designing fencing for a project. CPW is 
aware that the solar project may include security fencing. The typical specifications for 
security fencing make this fence type exclusionary for most wildlife. In these cases CPW 
requests that the project design adhere to the recommendations for exclusionary fencing that 
are safe for wildlife. If wildlife exclusion fencing is installed, CPW requests that efforts be 
taken to avoid entrapping wildlife within the facility during construction of the fence and that 
the solar facility be checked regularly or structures installed to allow animals to escape, in the 
unlikely event that a deer or other wildlife becomes trapped in the facility. CPW recommends 
any non-security fencing on the project site be wildlife friendly. CPW also recommends that 
any security lighting be designed to minimize light pollution and take into consideration 
lighting initiatives that aim to reduce impacts to wildlife. 



6 
*Version - 5/27//2021 - BMPs are subject to periodic updates based on the best available science 

10.   Transmission Line Development. CPW recommends new transmission lines be co-
located with existing transmission lines or infrastructure corridors whenever possible to 
minimize additional impacts on wildlife and reduce habitat fragmentation. Of high concern 
regarding electrical transmission lines is the potential for collisions and raptor electrocution. 
The Edison Electric Institute and the Avian Power Line Interaction Committee, in cooperation 
with the USFWS, have developed Best Management Practices to minimize impacts to avian 
species. CPW recommends that both the “Suggested Practices for Avian Protection on 
Power Lines, the State of the Art in 2006” and the “Reducing Avian Collisions with Power 
Lines: The State of the Art in 2012” documents be consulted for proper design considerations 
to minimize raptor electrocution. These documents can be ordered at the Edison Electric 
Institute website (www.eei.org) or can be downloaded at the Avian Power Line Interaction 
Committee website (www.aplic.org). This recommendation is applicable to all segments 
included in the project. 

11.   Avian Fatality Risk. Proximity of the project site to rivers, reservoirs, migratory stop-
over habitat, and habitat for wintering roosts for bald eagles may be a factor in the overall risk 
to birds. Waterfowl and other avian species that utilize the area during migration may be at 
risk of collision with solar panels. There are also technology-specific factors associated with 
avian fatality risk at solar facilities and the final site plans could influence the potential risk for 
birds at the location. Any industrial surface water or evaporation ponds associated with the 
site could increase the risk to wildlife on the installation either due to toxicity issues or by 
acting as an attractant. CPW recommends a site design that prevents wildlife access to any 
artificial water sources associated with the project that could be a risk to wildlife. In locations 
with high avian migration and use and where there is a potential risk to avian species, CPW 
recommends development of a post-construction monitoring program in accordance with the 
USGS 2016 report Mortality Monitoring Design for Utility-Scale Solar Power Facilities. Design 
adjustments or additional features to mitigate collision or other fatality risks may be requested 
if fatalities related to on-site concerns are identified during monitoring. 

12.   Reclamation and Decommissioning. Reclaim areas disturbed by construction and 
develop long-term decommissioning and reclamation plans in the event that it is decided to 
decommission any infrastructure of the facility. CPW prefers that native vegetation be 
retained on site during the operational lifespan of the project, both as habitat for wildlife and 
to ensure successful reclamation of the project area. Proper reclamation, from a wildlife 
perspective, involves not only stabilizing the soil and establishing ground cover, but fostering 
plant communities with a diversity of species and plant types -grasses, woody plants, and 
broadleaf forbs- which will fully serve the nutritional and hiding cover needs of wildlife. Areas 
should be reclaimed with seed for native vegetation appropriate for the site, as 
recommended by CPW and the local Natural Resources Conservation Service office. CPW 
recommends that decommissioning plans include (but not be limited to) timing of 
decommissioning individual or project wide infrastructure and plans to reclaim areas back to 
pre-construction conditions.  






















































































































































































































































	BCC Agenda 06.17.2025
	2025 1st and 2nd Quarter Employee Anniversaries
	Pirate Pyrotechnics-Jackson Lake POA Fireworks Application-Permit
	2025 BCC 24 Adopting 2025 Morgan County Fair Rules & Regulations
	Resolution 2025 BCC 25 Variance
	Resolution 2025 BCC 26 WEF
	Resolution 2025 BCC 27 PD
	H. Resolution 2025 BCC 28 Bellendir MS
	Morgan County Superintendents
	Road and Bridge Report 05.10.2025 - 05.16.2025
	Calendar 06.13.2025 - 06.24.2025
	BCC 061725 PKT - Solar, BESS, WEF
	Items for Discussion - 061025
	Fencing_CPW_Solar-Energy-BMPs
	NFPA 855_2023.




